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3. 

DIE ENGLISCHE R EISE 1787 1 

211. Charles Greville2 an Matthew Boulton3 London,27.Januarl787 
A1117 Office Birmingham. Eigcnh. - Erotdrudt Ford, S. 170. 

Empfehlungssdireiben für Stein und Zimmermann ("very intelligent und oimable 
gentlemen"). Steins Wunsdi, mit Boulton über die Möglidikeit der V erwendung 
von Dampfmaschinen in Deutsdiland zu verhandeln. 

[ .. . ] The Baron Stein, from Prussia, and Professor Zimmermann4, from 
Brunswick, have anxiously wish 'd for Mr. Boulton's return from France 
to have the pleasure of seeing him. -
The B. Stein particularly wishes to consult on the possibility of applying 
the patent fire engines in the interior parts of Germany, and Mr. 
G[reville] has assured the Baron, if they can prevail on Mr. B[oulton] to 
establish them, and are liberal that Mr. Boulton will drain all their salt­
works either by contract or commission. Mr. G[r eville] hopes that Mr. 
Boulton will allow them to wait on him, as they are very intelligent and 
aimable gentlemen. 

1 Die im fo lgenden obgedruckten Korrespondenzen Steins und über Stein während se ines 
Aufenthaltes in Englond waren bis zu ihrer Veröffentlichung durd1 G u y St an t o n 
Fo r d in d em Sammelband (Fes tsd:irift) "On and off the cnmpus" (Minncnpolis 1938), 
in Deutschland völlig unbek annt, obgleidi sie sch on von Samuel Smiles für sein "Lives 
of the Engineers" (London 1865, IV. S. 277 f.) und von John Lord für sein "Capital nnd 
Stenm power 1750-1800" (London 1923, S. 216 f .) benutzt wurd en. Beid e Werke lagen 
jedodi außerhalb der Thematik deut sch er Forschung. Ober Vorgesd1icbte und Inhalt 
der Publikation Fords, dem d er Ard1ivar d es Assny Office die Korrespondenzen zur 
Verfügung geste llt ha tte, orientiert nad1 den Angaben Fords G. Ritter in seiner aus· 
führlid1 en Despred111ng d er Ford'schen Veröffentl idrnng (Göttingiscbe Gelehrte An· 
zeigen, 200. Jg„ 1938, S. 330ff.) . Dabei wird auch der gegen Stein erhobene Vorwurf 
der Industriesp ionage am vorliegend en Materia l kritisdt untersu ch t und widerlegt, nach­
dem Ford selbst in seinen einlei t enden Be trachtungen nicht zu einem eindeutigen Urteil 
gekommen war. Vgl. S. 252, Anm. 7. Neuerdings h at sid1 J. Curswell in seiner st ark belle­
tris tischen Raspe·Biogrnphie „The Prospector" (Lon<lon 1950) cbenfulls mit d er Sad1e be­
f ußt und auf Grund der Boulton-Papers (Assay-Oflice) Fords Darstellung um e inige in ter­
essant e Einzell1eiten bcreidierl. Vgl. Nr. 230 u. Nr. 231. 
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Auf Grund seine r genauen archivalisdrnn Quellenan gaben ist es möglid! gewesen, die wid1-
ti gst en Stücke der Boulton-Papers dank dem Entgegenkommen des Ard1 ivars, Mr. West­
wood, für diese Publikation zu benutzen. Dabei ergab sidi, duß so wesentlid1e Stücke wie 
die Nummern 225, 226, 234, 235, 238 der Bead1tung sowohl Fords als auch Carswells ent­
gangen sind.Konnte so unsere Publikation um einigewichtigeDokumente be re idtert werden, 
so besd1rünk t sie sid1 in de r Wiedergabe auf d as für Ste ins Englandreise Bedeutsame unter 
Weglassung alles d essen, was nidtt Bezug d arauf hat. Audi die Anmerkungen bringen nur 
das zum Verst ändn is der Stein'schen Re ise Notwendige. Sie fol gen hierin dankbar und 
weitgehend de r minutiösen Vorarbei t Fords. 
2 Sir Charles G r e v i 11 e war Parlamentsabgeo rdne ter und e in hervo r ragendes Mitglied 
der englischen Gesellsdtaft. Näheres Ford a. a. 0. S. 170, Anm. 15. 
3 Matth. D o u 1 t o n (1728- 1809), Fabrikant von Münzen und anderen Massenartikeln in 
Birmingh am. Nad1dem e r zuerst zur Verwendung im eigen en Betrieb eine Dampfmaschin e 
aufgest ellt h atte und d adurch mit Watt in Ve rbindung gekommen war, ver einigte er sich 
mit diesem zur industriellen He rs tellung von Dampfmasd1inen und begründet e mit ihm 
d ie Firma Boulton & Watt in Birmingh am-Soho. - Boulton wa r de r Prototyp des früh­
k api talis tisd1en Unte rneh mers großen Stils, erst durd1 ihn wurde die industrielle Ver­
w endung d er Watt'sd1en Erfindung e rmögli d1 t und durchgesetzt. Er war Mitglied ver­
schi edener wissensch aftlid1er Gesellsdrnften , u. a. de r Royal Society. S. über ihn Erich 
Roll, An Early Experiment in Industri al Orgimization: A History of the Firm of W att 
nnd Doulton, 1775- 1805 (London 1930) und H. W. Dickinson, Matthew Boulton (Ca m­
bridge University Press, 1937). 
' Eberh. Aug. Willi. (seit 1796 v.) Z i mmermann (1734--1815) wurde, nad1dem er in 
Leyd en und . Göttingen Naturwissensdtaften u.W Mathematik studiert h atte, 1766 Pro­
fessor um Caro linum in Braunschweig und unt ernahm, mehrfadt zu diesem Zweck beur­
laubt, ausgedehnte Studienreisen zunächst n ach Skandinavien und Rußland, l 786-a8 auch 
nadt England, Frankreidt, der Sdtweiz und Italien. Er wurde 1801 - d amals sdton län gst 
e ine eu ropäische Berühm theit - von seiner Lehrtätigkeit dispensiert unter Ernennung 
zum Geh. Etats-Rat. Zimmermann ist audt als politischer Sd1riftstelle r und Gegner der frz. 
Revolution hervorgetreten, d eren Anfänge e r in Paria mite rlebt hatte. Ebenso wandt e 
er sich spä te r gegen Napoleon. 

212. Stein an Matthew Boulton London,29. Januar l787 
Anay Office Birm ingham . Eige nh . - Erudruck Ford, S. 170 f. 

Vb ersendet i.hm das Empfehlungssd1reiben Grevilles und bittet um eine Unter­
redung über die Möglidikeit der V erwendung von Dampfmasdiinen auf deutschen. 
Salinen. 

Baron Stein presents his compliments to Mr. Bo[u)lton and has the honour 
to deliver him the inclosed letter of Mr. Greville, and desires tobe favoured 
with an answer from Mr. Bo[u]lton and informed of the time when h e can 
have the honour to wait on him. He desires it very eagerly in order to speak 
with Mr. Bo[u]lton about the application of the patent fire engine to some 
extensive salt works in Germany, and to clear himself from the suspicion 
which p erhaps Mr. Boulton may have got, as if his design was to bring the 
steam engine out of the Kingdom in a clandestinous manner. 
Duke Stree t No. 28 St. James 
January the 29 at 9 o'clock [1787] 
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213. Stein an Sir Joseph Banks1 London, 5. Februar 1787 
A•BRY Ollice Dirminghnm. Abu hrift n n der H and Doulton1. - E rs tdruck Ford, S. 172 (. 

Vb ersende t ihrn mehrere Exem plare seiner Rechtfertigungssd1.rift mit der Bitte, 
sie den Herren seiner Bekanntsdiaf t und insbesondere Boulton zur K enntnis zu 
geben und letzterem zu versich ern, daß Stein kein Mittel versäumen werde, die 
gegen ihn ausgestreuten V erdädttigungen zu widerlegen. Sir Joseph Banlcs wird 
als ein Mann vort Stand, Herlmn/ t und Ehrgefühl gebeten, Houlton zur Abgabe 
einer Ehrenerklärung für Stein zu bewegen ("due lo n slrnnger, who is not sprung 
from nothing, and who has a character to lose"} . 

Baron Stein has the honour of presenting his r esp ects to Sir Joseph Banks 
and to send him the inclosed pieces, the one to show to Messrs. Greville, 
Blagden2 and Kirwan3 r eques ting at the same time the latter to show it to 
Sir Francis Bassett 4, the latter to put it in Mr. Boulton's possession assur­
ing him5 the same time tba t Baron Stein will neglect no m eans to clestroy 
tbe suspicions which h e h as, or might still give birth to against him. He has 
not meant to compromise Mr. Walker0 by naming him, and h e desires Sir 
Jos. Banks not to m ention tbe name of tbe latter to Mr. Boulton. He is 
persuaded that Sir Jos. Banks, b eing a man of quality and of birth, an<l 
knowing tbe value which bonour ought tobe of to a man of tba t condition, 
will use his influence to engage Mr. Boulton to givc the necessary explana­
tions, or to make tbe repara tions due to a stranger, wh o is not sprung from 
nothing, and who has a character to lose. 
Duke Street St. James's 5'" F eb(ruar]y 1787. 

1 Sir Joseph B on k s (1744-1820), seit 1778 Präsident der Royal Society. 
2 Sir Charles B 1 a g d e n (1748- 1820), Arzl, Sekretär der Royal Society. 
8 Rich. K i rw an (1733- 1812), Apotheker, Mitgli ed der Royal Society. 
• Sir F r aneis Ba 8 s e l l (1757- 1835), Bergwerksbesitzer in Cornwall. Audi als polit i· 
sclier Scliriftsteller h ervorgetre ten. 
6 „Say Mr. Boulton" (Zusatz Boultons). 
8 Wahrsclieinlidi Adam Wa lk e r (t 1821) , engl. ErfinJer, der u. a. auch in Deutschlaucl 
gereist war. 
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214. Pro-Memoria Steins für Matthew Boulton („Baron Steins Memorial") 
London, 5.Februar 1787 

Auay Office Birmingham. Absd1ri ft von der Hand Bo ulto 1u . - Erstdruck Ford, S. 173 ff. 

A usfiihrlidie Red1tfertigung gegen den Vorwur f der l1tdustriespioriage unter Dar­
legung der bisher von ihm unternommenen Sd1ritte, 1un sid 1 A1tsd1.auu11ge11 111111 

Pläne von englisdien Dampfmasd1inen : u besdwffen. Seine B esid1tigung der 
Dampfmasdii11en bei Barclay & Perkins in Pimlico und die Rolle des Masdiinistcn 
Cartwrigtlt. Boultons Weigerung, S tein zu empfangen als Folge böswilliger Miß­
deutirng seiner Sd1ritte. S tein bestreitet riidit, daß er versud1t habe, sidi Zeidmunge11 
vo11 Boulto11s Dampfmasd1ine zu beschaffe11 , verwahrt sidi aber gegen die Unter­
st ellung, daß er danad1 in Deut.sdiland habe Dampfmaschinen bauen lassen 
wollen. Er verweist darauf, daß es 1. dazu an den nötigen Fad1arbeitern fehle, daß 
er 2. vo11 A11fang a11 versucht habe, mit Boulton wegen des Anlrnufs von Masdiinen 
in direkte Verbindung zu lwrnm en und daß er 3. lceinerlei persönlidies Interesse 
am Masdii11e11bau besitze, sondern nur in amtlichem Auftrage handele. Zum Sdiluß 
gibt St ein der Hoffnung Ausdruck, nunmehr mit Boulton direkt ins Gespräch zu 
lcommen und die Zweifel über seine Rolle in England zerstreut zu haben, verlangt 
andererseits aber audi, clas Boulton den über ih11 ausgestreuten Geriiditen ent· 
gegentrete. 

The s imple exposition of a fact, which has been represented in a very dis­
advantageous point of view for m e, will suffice to prove the falsity of the 
conclusions which have been intended tobe drawn from it, as if 1 had been 
intentioned to apply an invention of Mr. Boulton's in Germany and to de­
prive him of the enjoyment of thc advantages attached to it. 
Ever since my arrival in England, in the beginning of Januar y, 1 h ave 
endeavoured to procure myself a drawing of Mr. Boulton's fire en gine in 
order to have a clear and just idea of its construction, of its e ffects, and of 
the utility or use i t m ight be of for my object. 
I obtained a copy of a very imperfect design of the said engine, and a 
drawing of a model of an engine upon the old construction. 1 was assured 
here that there would be no difficulty to have a drawing made on the spot 
itself, I was shown the engine of P imlico, and thc person that d id intro­
duce mc to it, informed the workmen of m y aim, who made no contradic­
tion at all. 
Meanwhile I had been in the borough with the intention to see the fire 
engiue of a brewery. I sent to ask for the permission of it to the accounting 
house and I entered into the house wh ere th e fire engine was with a note 
from the acco unting house. 
An inspector of the fire engine a t Pimlico having some days a/ter re/used 1 

the man whom I employed to make m e a p lan, I wrote to the governor of 
the socie ty of the proprie tors of said enginc, to ask him the p ermission of 
being admitted to it ; he gave that perm ission, and 1 caused the workmen 
at Pimlico to be informed of it by my servant, when the former advised 
him to address himself to a workman named Cartwright 2 , who could give 
him the truest informations on the subjec t. H e went to him, aud tha t man 
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offered himself to show all the parts of the engine and to give all the 
informations that might be wish e<l for, but he asked 8 days time ancl five 
Guineas, as weil for his trouble as for his maintenance. Having come to rne, 
I promised him the one as -well as the other. I gave him two Guineas, Lut 
instead of fulfilling his engagements, he, during my absence and the time 
during which he was alone with my servant, laid hold of the two above 
mentioned drawings, under a pretence of wanting to rec tify 'em, and went 
olf to go to Mr. Boulton and to represent to him the fact, in a point of view 
the most odious and for him the most m eritorious. 
This happened on the 25th of January, and having been informed that 
same day after dinner of Mr. Boulton's arrival at Mr. Moore's3, I desired 
the latter to procure me his acquaintance, who desired Mr. Parker thc son, 
to wbom I gave my direction, to apprise him of it. 
Not having received any answer, I asked on the 27th Mr. Greville for a 
letter to Mr. Boulton, to whom, afte r having received it on the 28th at 
night, I sent it on the 29th. 
I accompanied it by a letter of my own in which I begged of him to fix 
m e a time when I might see him, to converse with him on the subject of 
applying his fire cngine to my object a n<l to dcfend or clear myself of a 
suspicion which h e had formed against m e. I r eceived no answer from him 
and it was in vain that I sent to him to ask for it on the 30th at 5 o'clock 
in the evening. I went to Mr. Moore on the 3lst, exposed the fact to him, 
and begged he would engage Mr . Boulton to h ave an interview with me. 
This step proved equally fruitless. I complained about it to Mr. Greville 
the I st of February in the evening in the Royal Society and, Mr. Boulton 
being set off, I heard nothing more about the matter until this morning, 
when I was informed of the disadvantageous light in which it had been 
r epresented to Sr. Jos. Banksand to other p ersons of my acquaintance. 
Tbe result of this fact is that I have endeavoured to obtain a drawing of 
Mr. Boulton's fire engine, but I have never had the intention of construct­
ing a fi re engine by that drawing, because I know 
1) that a great deal of its effects dep ends on the perfection of the work, 
which could never be so weil made by other workmen, than by those whicb 
Mr. Boulton employs in this object since a numbcr of years. 
2) 1 have ever since (Dy arr ival spoken to various persons of my acquain­
tance, amongst others to Mr. Greville and to Mr. Zimmermann, of my in­
tention to trea t with Mr. Boulton respecting the conditions on whid1 he 
would construct fire en gines, and the moment 1 learnt a t Mr. Moore's that 
he was arrived , I causcd rnyself to be announced to him, in order to make 
his acquaintance. 
3) I have no motive of interest , nor none of ambition, my fortune consists 
in lands, the engine could be applied but to establishments belonging to the 
King. 
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No ambition, because it would b e a puerile m eans to satisfy it in construct­
ing an engine invented by another p er son, after plans that might have 
h een tak en of it. Mr. Boulton complains of my wanting to cleprive him 
clandestinely o f the advantagcs attached to bis invention, and 1 on my 
part, presume that h e has sprcad disadvantageous reports concerning m e. 
Thc reasons which l bave now alledged will clear me of tha t suspicion and 
will serve at l east as a counterpoise to the depositions of thc honest 
Cartwright, who h as not known any other way to make himself useful to 
his master than that of imposture and theft. 1 hope that th e assurance I 
give h im of my desiring nothing more arduously, as to treat with him upon 
t h e con struction of fire engines in Germany, will contribute to tranquilizc 
him in r egard to my views. But at the same time - 1 clemand that, in case 
h e sh ould have doubts, he will please to inform me of it, in order t o clear 
up the fact, or that, if there r emains none more of ' em in his breast, that 
he will please to clestroy the impression h e has given ( or raised) against me. 

1 Die h ier und im Folgenden hervorgehobenen Stellen sind im Original von Doulton als in 
sich widerspruchsvoll oder sonstwie in ihren Angaben anfechtbar unte rstrid1en. 
2 Ca r twr i ght war e ine der Gest alt en, wie sie in der Frühgesd1icht e der Iudustrie­
Entwicklung häufig vorkommen : tüchtige Facharbeit er, nber gerade d eswegen im Bewußt ­
sein ihrer Wichtigkeit oft ohne Gefühl für ihre Grenzen, lei cht überheblich und häufig 
dem Alkohol ergeben. Aud1 Harkort h atte sid1 in seinen Anfängen in Wetter mit ähn­
lichen Typen herumzusd1lagen, die aus England nad1 Deutschland gekommen waren und 
hier doppelt selbstherrlich uuflrat en. - Dnß Carlwright, d er übrigens schon früher im 
R ausd1 Fabrikgeheimnisse ausgeplaudert hatte, sid1 Ste in und seinen Freunden gegen­
über in jedem F alle unkorrekt benommen h alte, wußt e er so gut wie sein Arbeitgeber, 
denn er hätte die Fremden so fort melden müssen, ohne sidi vorher mit ihnen auf Ge­
spräche einzulassen . Wahrsd1einlidi wird er dann nachträglich aus Angst und um jedem 
beredi tigten Vorwurf zuvorzukommen, sogleich übertrieben haben, wie es j a häufig die 
Art solch er haltlosen Naturen ist - „Angeber" in jedem Sinne des Wortes. - Cart wright 
is t später, nadid em er sich auch wei terhin als unzuverlässig und unchrlim erwiesen h olte, 
von Doulton entlassen worden, lebte d ann offenbar von Gelegenheitsarb ei t und Diebe­
reien, wurde im J ahre 1792 wegen Diebstahls zum Tode verurteilt, jedod1 zur Depor ta­
tion begnadigt. 
3 Snmuel Mo o r e, Sekre tär de r Soeiety of Ar ts, Manufactures und Cororoerce. 
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215. Sir Joseph Banksan Matthew Boulton 

Auay Office Birm inghttm. Eigenb. - Eutdrud< Ford, S. 172. 

[London,8.Februarl787) 
Soho Square 

Vberreicht ihm Steins R echtfertigungsschreiben nebst der ihm zuteil geworden en 
Antwort. Äußerste Zurüdchaltung d er englisdien industriellen Gesellsdiaf t gegen· 
über Stein. 

Baron Stein has transmitted to me what he calls a justification of his con­
duct in obtaining a drawing of your engine, which I enclose with this. To 
show you the line of conduct whid1 1 have taken in the business, I enclose 
his letter and my answer, whid1 be so good as to re turn to me when you 
have done with them. 
P . S. I have not observed the count [!] to rcceive any civility, farther than 
a bow or an answer to a qucs tion, from any of my friends since your intima­
tion, so justly does every [on c) seem to fecl this conduct towards you. 

216. Matthew Boultons „Statement of facts" [London, Februar 1787) 1 

Auay Office Birminghnm . Eigenb. - Eru Jrudc. Ford, S. 103 f!. nad1 e iner um zwei Ab1ätze (e. Anm. 6 u . 8) 
e rweit erte n und mit der hi e r ehcnfu llt noch Ford wi ede rgege benen Üh cr1d1rift \'Cr1ehencn Vorlage. 

Boultons Au/Jassu.ng von Steins V erhalten und Vorgehen: dritter elclatantcr Fall 
van preußisdier Industriespionage 11ach den Beispielen vo11 Büdcling und von 
Evcrsm01m, die :amächst einmal ausf iihrlidi relcapitu.liert werden. Eingehende 
Darstellung der angeblidien Mad1inationen Steins mit dem. Mcdwnilcer Cart · 
wright bei der Besiditigung der Dampfmasdiine in der Brauerei von Barclay & 
Per/eins. Versud1 Steins, diese Dampfmasd1i11 e einige Tage später nod1 ei1mial zu 
besid1tigen. A ls besonders gravierend wird ihm die Fii hrung eiries Dedwn111 eus 
angeredmet, sowie der Umstarid, daß er bei seinem zweit en Besudi von <ler An· 
wesenheit Boultons und Watts iri Birmingham unc.errirhtet sein lco1mte, sich aber 
ohne ihr Vorwissen lnf ormationen 11nd lcorrelae Zeidmungen zu versd1affen sud1tc. 
- Diesem, seinem ganze1i Verhalt.en habe Stein a11d1 die bisherige, weder seinem 
Rang noch seiner Stellung e11tspred1ende Behandlung zuzusd1reiben und deshalb 
lceinen Grund, sidi zu belclageri. 

Facts. 
In the year 1779 two persons from Prussia2 found out Ridiard Cartwright 
(one of Boulton & Watts workmen who was then employed in erecting the 
steam engine at Chelsea) and endeavoured to bribe him to b etray his 
masters, but without success. They thcn procured a l ctter of r ecommen­
dation to Messrs. Boulton and Watt and one of them assumed a title, which 
letter they delivered to Mr. Watt (Mr. Boulton bcing from home) . 
Mr. Watt endeavoured Lo show tbem every civility in his power. He accom­
panied them to Soho, showed them tha t manufactory, h e then walked 
several milcs to show them one of the new s team engines at work upon 
the Birmingham navigation3, and such other particulars as wer e n ecessary 
to gratify the curiosity of gentlem en travelling for amusem ent. He then 
took them bad( again to his own house to dinner [ . . . ]. 
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Whilst these gentlemen were enjoying the informat ion, the pro tcction, the 
hospitality, and the time of Mr. Watt, they were forming s tratagems to 
rob him of his inventions and debauch his servants, for early on the n ext 
morning they returned to Soh o and bribed a workman to take asunder 
some of the principal parts of an engine, as weil as to show them many 
other things equally improper. 
These gentlemen soon after r eturned to their own country (Prussia), and 
one of them undertook to e rect one of the said n ew steam engines a t 
Mansfeld in Germany, and during the e rec tion he ann ounced in one of 
the F rench periodical publications as weil as in oth er foreign news papers 
that he had a ttrapecl a ll the secrets of Boulton aml Watt's new inventcd 
steam engincs, to which he said he had added many important improve­
ments of his own invention, and that he had then nearly completed one 
of these improved engines at the mines at Mansfeld, which when finished 
he said would be equal in power to 108 horses, wher eas it was not equal 
to 8, and moreover it did not answer in any degree the purpose it was 
e rected fo r. 
This very ingenious artis t ( whose real n ame we are now told is Master 
Assessor Bückling, Counsellor of Mines of his Prussian Majes ty) finding 
himself mis taken, returned last year a second time t o England to corr ec t 
his errors, and by his usual ar ts obtained admi ttance into many of the 
Cornish engines e rectecl by Boulton & Watt, where he endeavoured to 
seduce some of the workmen to go out of the Kingdom with him, bribed 
another Lo make models of such parts as h e did not comprehend, and did 
actually take one of the said workmen (George Richards) with him abroad 
in the auturnn of last year, who is not yet r eturned and is of little conse­
quence, as h e is good for nothing [ . .. ] . 
About three years ago, a Mr. Eversmann4 was sent from Prussia to England 
in quest of certain improvements, and like a faithful ambassador he in­
truded himself into Mr. Wilkinson's5 and other manufactories without the 
consent of the proprie tors, particularly into some of the iron forgesworked 
by Boulton & Watt's engines and he made very exact drawings thereof, 
whicb he took to Berlin, as Messrs. Boul ton & Watt have been inform ed 
by a gentleman who saw them6. 
On the 25th of last month, Richard Cartwright, one of Messrs. Boulton & 
Watt's articled servants, came to his said masters in London and informed 
thern that three p ersons had heen that morning to Messrs. Barclay & P er­
kin's brewery, that they had obtained a permission from one of the clerks 
to go into the new engine house a t a time wh en all the workmen were gone 
to their dinners (except a young man who did not understand the engine). 
One of the p ersons be said passed under the name of Count Vidi7, and tbat 
another began to make a sk etcb of the engine soon af te r they entered. They 
desired the man to stop the engine, whicb h e did. They th en requested him 
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to cmpty the condenser cistern, but he replied he durst not, as he could not 
afte rwards set it to work again, but said that Cartwright could, as he had 
erected the engine. They then desired him to take them to Cartwright's 
loclgings, whid1 he did. T hey rcquested Cartwright to go with thern, and 
he accordingly did go with them to their lodgings, when (he says) he was 
informed that the count was Baron Stein. H e says .the Baron flatter ed him 
mud1, and told him he deserved great wages, and gave him two guineas 
for his loss of time that day. H e then invited Cartwright to accompany 
them into Cornwall and Staffordshire to show them all the new en gines 
erected in those counties, ancl, if we are to believe Cartwright, he endeavour­
ed to pcrsuade him to go abroad with him. H e then showed Cartwright 
some drawings and asked, if he could not correct them, which he readily 
untertook to do. As Messrs. Boulton and Watt wer e both in town at that 
time, Cartwright came .to inform them of all that bad passed, and though 
they approved of his zeal to serve his masters, yet they disapproved of his 
conduct in taking money, and to prevent furthe r mischief order ed him to 
quit London. Although Baron Stein knew from Cartwright that Messrs. 
Boulton and Watt wer e in town, yct he applied again in the same clan­
destine manne r to see Mr. Barclay's engine on the following Sunday, when 
h e must know that the masters of the brewer y wer e absent and the engine 
was more examinable, as it was then not at work, however h e was r efused. 
Mr. Boulton had some thoughts of waiting upon the Baron to have repre­
sented the improprie ty of his conduct aud to have acquainted him that 
he had transgressed the laws of this country in endeavouring to seduce 
English artists abroad, whe reby he was l iable to be fined f, 500 - and to 
b e imprisoned six months. But the multiplicity of Mr. Boulton's business 
and engagements during his short stay in London put it out of his power. 
Besides as Mr. Boulton had not the honour of knowing anything of either 
the Baron or the Count, and as their conduct was not agreeable to Mr. Boul­
ton's notions of honour, he therefore declined wasting his time. Perhaps 
it might in the opinion of the Baron be very proper to steal Messrs. Boulton 
and Watt's inventions, but surely it was equally as proper that Messrs. 
Boulton and Watt should prevent it, if in their power, and whid1 they 
endeavoured to do. 
If Messrs. Boulton and Watt have not shown that r espect which is due to 
Baron Stein, h e must attribute it to the improper method he took to m ake 
known unto them his characte r, rank, fortune, and consequence, as well as 
to the impressions r emaining upon their min<ls made by his two country­
men aforcsaid, and to the ungenerous treatment they have experienced 
from some other foreigne rs8• 

1 Zwischen dem 9. u. 13. Februar entstanden . - Am 8. Februar erhielt Boulton Steins Pro­
Memoria durch Greville (s. Nr. 215), am 13. wi rd das „Statement o f fa cts" an Sir Joseph 
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Banke übersandt und bei dieser Gelegenheit erstm als erwäh nt. Daraus e rgibt sich audi, 
dnß die Nr. 218 nicht vor dem 13. gesdiricben sein kann. 
2 Bückling und W ait z v. Esd1en, s. unten S. 258, Anm. 3 und Ford a. a. 0. S. ? 67, Anm. 11 . 
3 Der Birmingham-Kanal (Ford, S. 184, Anm. 32). 
' S. oben S. 167, Anm. 5, dazu Ford a. a. 0. S. 185, Anm. 34. 
5 John W i 1 k in s o n war e iner d er bed eutend st en E isenindustr iellen der Zeit, Erfinder 
e iner Bohrmaschine für Kanonen, mit d e r auch di e Zylinder für Watts Dampfmaschine 
gefertigt werden konnten, ei ne wesentlidie Voraussetzung für de ren Ent wicklung über­
haupt. Er verkaufte spiiter selbst Watts Fabrikationsgeheimnisse ins Ausl and {Ford, 
S. 185, Anm. 35) . 
c Dieser Absa tz fehlt in unserer Vorl age. Hie r nad1 Ford. 
7 Für diese rätselhafte Benennnug ist bisl;er eine völlig befriedigende E rklärung nodi nicht 
gefund en worden. l<' ord möd1te annehmen, daß es sich hier wirklich um ein von Stein ge­
wähltes P seudonym geh andelt h at, er sieh t darin die einzige wirklidie Belas tung fü r Stein 
und eine Stüt ze der Denunziation Raspes und Cartwrights (a. a. 0. S. 186, Anm. 36). 
Dod1 weist Ritter mit Recht darauf hin, d aß ger ade d as angebliche P seudonym selbst, das 
gar kein Name ist, gegen die These einer be trügerisd1 en Namensführung spridit, und 
d eutet die Möglidikeit an, daß es sid1 um einen von Cartwright mißverst andenen Sicht­
vermerk St eins unter einer Masd1inenzeid10ung handelt (n. n. 0. S. 334, Anm. 1) . 
- Audi Carswell, der von Steins betrügerischen Absieh len völl ig übe rzeugt ist (s. oben 
S. 243, Anm. 1), stützt sidi h auptsächlich auf die angeblid1 falsche Namensführun g. 
8 Der letzte Absatz f ehl t ebenfalls in unsere r Vorl age. Druck nach Ford. 

217. Mattl;ew Boulton an Sir Joseph Banks 
Birmingham/ Soho, 13. F ebruar 1787 

Au ny OfJice Birmingham. Kon2c p1. Eigcoh. - E r1tdruck Ford, S. 177 ff . - Um die nicht Stein be treffenden 
'fei le gekürzt. 

Danl. fü.r die Zustellung von Steins Reditf ertigungssdiri f t. Boulton besteht jedodt 
darauf, daß Stein sielt alle Unannehmlidikeiten selbst zugezogen habe und be­
zweifelt im iibrigen audt die Rid1tig/,eit seiner Angaben unter I-Jinwei.~ auf die 
abwei,dienden Aussagen d es Masdiinist en Cartwright. V erdädttig ersdieint ihm 
insbesondere, daß Stein trotz: seiner (Boultons) Anwesenheit in Birminglwm die 
Dampf masd1i11e in Pimlico ohne sein Vorwisse11 u11d unter falsdtem Namen in Ber­
glei.tung zweier „Assistenten" besid1tigt habe. (" I was convinced he intended to 
serve us as his two country men h ad before done"). 

I feel myself ver y much obliged to you for th e fav [ou]r of your le tter and 
the communication of the Baron's m emorial as well as for the friendly 
part you have taken. 
If I have given th e Baron any offence, it can only h ave arisen from the 
relation of matters of fac t and from throwing difficulties in the way of his 
accomplishing his designs by m eans cliscorcl ant to his rank. 
You'll please to observe the Baron says that some days afte r 1 h e had 
obtained admittance into the brewery engine by a note, he went (a 2d time) 
to Pimlico and was then advised to apply to Cartwright, whereas you will 
find it is stated in my account of facts tha t h e applied to Cartwright the 
firs t time he went to the brewery and then took Cartwright with him, 
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although the Baron says in his memorial , h e having come to me. Cart­
wright says he has told the Baron that Boulton and Watt were in town and 
you'll observe in his memorial h e say s [Cartwright] went off to go to 
Mr. Boulton. H ence it is plain that the Baron knew I was in town, yet 
nevertheless he went with a blackguard to t he horough on the following 
Sunday, when the masters were absent and the engine not going, to examine 
it, but was refused. 
lf the Baron h ad gone alone, I should no t have thought so much of it, but 
finding him with his 2 assistants2 making their attacks with bribery and 
blacklead pencils, 1 was convinced h e intended to serve us as his two coun­
trymen h ad before clone, to which I mi ght add som e other circumstances 
of a similar nature [ . . . ]. 
Als Beispiel und Parallele wird außer dem Fall Büdcling noch der Besuch 
des Arenbergisdien T edtnilcers Fasler aus Namur 1782 erwähnt, von dem 
sich Boulton ebenfalls gröblich getäusdit und hintergangen fühlte-
If 1 have anything to reproach myself of in my conduct towards strangers, 
it is in having been too liberal and too unguarJed in showing those things 
whid1 my duty to my country and to myself required more rescr vation in. 
I have no ob jcction to your showiog my sta te[ment] of fac ts or this letter 
to any or all th e gentlemen m entioned in the Baron's memoire or whom­
soever you please. 
1 have no time to enter into disputes and only write this for my own 
justification [ ... ]. 

1 Im Original unte rstrich en, ebeuso die im Folgenden hervorgehobenen Stellen. 
! Außer dem Oberste iger F riedrich en twede r, wie Ritter (a. a. 0. S. 332, Anm. 1) ver­
mutet, Zimmermann (s. oben S. 244, Aum. 4) oder, nach der weniger wah rsd1einlid1en V e r­
mu tung Fords (a. n. 0 . S.178), Graf Gust av v. Schlabrendorff, keinesfalls jcdod1 Red en, wie 
früh er (Lehmann l. S. 84) angenommen wurde - ein I r rtum, den zuerst Wutke (a. a. 0. 
S. 118) berichtigt h at. - Sc h 1 ab r e nd o r ff , de r Sohn des Ministeni für Schlesien, Ernst 
Wilb. v. Schlabrendorff, war nach juris tischen und philosophisdrnn Studien in Frankfurt 
a. 0. und Halle auf Auslandsreisen nach England und Frankreich gegangen, von d enen 
ibn k ein Weg m ehr in seine Heimat zurückführte . Er lebte fortan vorwiegend seinen 
philantropischen Neigungen und Interessen, zunächst sechs J ahre in England, dessen 
politische, soziale und industrielle Verhäl tnisse ihn besonders interessie rten. Daß Ste in 
ihm 1787 in England begegnete, ist bei den engen Verflechtungen der aristokratisd1en 
Gesellschaft der Zei t nicht ve rwunderlich, insbes. da Schlabrendorff auch technische Inte r­
essen hatte und wohl auch mit Boulton bekannt war. Jedenfalls waren Stein und Schlab­
rendorff bei Boulton zu Gast, als dieser sich sd1ließlich dod1 noch he rbeiließ, St ein zu 
empfangen. - Ste in hat den Sonderling Schlabrendorff st elS in freundlid 1er Erinnerung 
behalten und ihn später sogar in seine politischen Pläne e inbezogeu. Schlabrendorff 
selbst war 1788 noch Frankreich gegangen. Er erlebte dort voller idealistisdier Begei­
sterung die Anfänge der Revolution und gehörte dann in Paris zu dem Kre is deut· 
scher Enthusiasten (Forst er, Kerner, R einhnrd) , die trotz alle r Enttäuschungen ihren 
Glauben an den Sieg der Vernunft und die Geburt einer besseren Welt nicht aufgaben. 
Wiihrend der Schreckensherrschaft wurde auch er verhaftet und entging nur durd1 Zufall 
d e r Guillotine. Nach dem Sturz Robespierres befreit, blieb er bis zu seinem Tode in Paris, 
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trotz innerer Opposition gegen d as n apoleonisdic System, d as er in seiner 1804 erschie· 
nenen Schrift "Napoleon Bonaparte und d as frnnzösisd1e Volk" kritisie rte. 
Stein erinnerte s ich seiner sehr viel spät er wied er. In d en diplomatisd1en Verh andlun gen 
des J ahres 1807/08 wollte er Schl abrendorffs Pariser Verbindungen in den Dienst der 
preuß. Außenpolitik s tellen . 1812/13, als es ihm d a rum ging, d as n apoleonische System 
aud1 propagandistisd1 zu b ekämpfen, r egt e er an, Schlabrendorffs Schrift h eimlich in 
Deutschland verbre iten zu l assen. S. auch Bund 11, IV u . V d ieser Publikation. 

218. Matthew Boulton an Charles Greville 
Birmingham/ Soho, 15. [?) F ebruar 1787 

Aeuy Office Dirminghow. Konzept. Eigenh. - Erstdruck Ford, S. 182 f. - Kleine Künung. 

Steins Rechtfertigung vom 5. Februar 1787. Boulto1is Gründe für sein V erhalten 
gegenüber Stein: dessen angebliche V ersuche, unter falsd•er Namensführung 
Maschinisten und Mechaniker :z:ur Untreue :z:u verleiten. We1m Boulton audi noch 
dabei bleibt, daß die Stein widerfahrenen Unannehmlid•keiten seinem eigenen 
Benehmen :z:u:z:uachreiben aeien, erlclärt er sich nun doch bereit, ihn als Ehrenmann 
anzusehen und zu empfangen. 

The multiplicity of letters and husiness which accumulated during my 
residencc in France kept me in such a constant hurry the few days 1 tarried 
in London,' that it was not in my power to pay that respect to you and the 
note you favoured me with as you are entitled to and my own dispositions 
prompt. As the affair r ela tive to the Baron could be hetter explained by 
a verbal conversa tion than by writing, 1 called at your house [ ... ], but was 
told you were not at home. 
Sr. Joseph Banks did m c the honour to write to me a few days ago and 
sent for my perusal a m emoir of Baron Stein, and in return 1 have sent to 
Sr. Joseph a state(ment] of facts1 which 1 beg leavc to refer you to for my 
justification. 
If Baron Stein had been introduced to m e in his own character, or 1 had 
b een so happy to h avc had the least knowledge of him, 1 trust 1 should 
have shown him every respect in my power . But if you .. . 2 any place ancl 
had been told as .. . 2, who first passcd under the name of Count Vidi3 and 
afterwards under the name of B. Stein, had been bribing (and] seducing my 
workmen and had ask ed one of them to go abroad with him and likewise 
to correct his drawings and to accompany him into Staffordshire and there 
to show him our engines, 1 say you would not have treated or considcr ed 
any person as a gent(lema]n, who passed under two names, who had endea­
voured to debauch my workmen and whom you knew nothing of but what 
was to his disadvantage. 
H the Baron's indiscretions have led him into a scrape, he must not blame 
me. 1 have related facts only. We have been used very dishonourably by 
two of his countrymen (see the le tter and facts 1 sent to Sr. Joseph) which 
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• • • 2 it was not unnatural that I should draw conclusions unf avourable to 
the Baron. If the Baron should travel into this neighbourhood and should 
bring a letter from you, I shall certainly show the r espect which is due to 
both. 
I certainly shall not recall anything I have said or done respecting Count 
Vidi, but as to Baron Stein or any fri eJ1d of yours I shall be glad to see. 
Nachschrift. The Baron has some obligations to Mr. Bückling (retrograde) 
and some other of bis countrymen. 

1 Daraus ergibt sich die Datierung des Briefes auf den 15., nicht 5. Februar wie bei Ford 
S. 183. Vgl. oben S. 251, Anm. 1. 
2 Unleserliches Wort. 
3 S. oben S. 252, Anm. 7. 

219. Charles Greville an Matthew Boulton London,19. Februarl787 
Auoy OfTice Birmingham. E igenh . - Eutdrudt Ford, S. 189 ff. 

Steins erstes Art/treten in England und sein eifriges Bemüh en um eine möglichst 
baldige Besichtigung der englischen Industrie· und Bergwerke. Grevilles zurück· 
haltende Ablehnung seiner Bitte um entsprechende Empf ehl1mgsbrief e für Besidi· 
tigungen in Abwesenheit von Boulton und Watt. Seine Warnungen und Ermah· 
nungen an Stein, sid1 nidit durdi Unvorsiditigkeiten dem V erdad1t der Industrie· 
spionage auszusetzen. Steins Verhalten als einzige Ursache seiner Sdiwierigkeiten. 

[ .. . ] The Baron was introduced to me by Sr. Jos. Banks. - Mr. Kirwan 
and Dr. Blagden gave me an opportunity of seeing bim at their house. He 
1lesired to see my collection and was two days with me and brought Mr. 
Zimmermann. On one of those days, which I believe to be prior to bis 
tampering with your men, he expressed great desires to see the Albion 
Mills1• I told him that unless you or Mr. Watt were in London, I bad made 
it a rule not to petition that favour, being a stranger to the other pro­
prietors, but on your return from France, I sbould willingly give a letter 
of introduction. I then stated the propriety of excluding foreigners who 
only came to steal inventions, which produced a conversation of somc 
lenght on the subject. in which h e said that he took what pains he could to 
instruct bimself in the machinery of this country, but that it would be 
hard to consider him as a pirate2, b ecause he was in the service of a 
sover eign and managed on bis account and not on his own, and that it 
was demonstrably cheaper to purchase an improved engine than try to 
steal it, in a case where very few were wanted, and he added that bis parti­
cular wish was to see you to try and settle a contract for some engines to 
drain the salt works now drained by borses etc„ and he consulted me, 
wh ether you came soon from France, for tbat he would go to Cornwall, if 
you proposed to stay long from London, and that be should regulate bis 
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motions accordingly. H e desired a letter to Mr. Moore. The B[aron] said 
h e was equally explicit to him on your subject, but that 1 might not be an 
instrument to favour trap. When h e applied for the le tte r to you in conse­
quence of this conversation 1 had had long before, 1 introduced awkwardly 
enongh the object of the Baron's application to you, knowing that it would 
be sufficient to put you on your guard, whether he meant fair or foul, but 
when 1 wrote the letter, the Baron was blown, whicl1 1 did not know, other· 
wise 1 should not have given him a le tter at all. The Baron cannot be 
surprised that h e fee ls the inconveniences of his imprudence and bad 
conduct, as 1 bad told him on the above m entioned conversation that 1 
thought h e should be very cautious in the m eans h e took to inform himself 
among manufacturers, for although 1 might give crcdit to the real object 
of his inquiry, that h e had no right to expect such favouruble construction 
from any other person, or that he would [not] be distinguish ed from a pirate 
if he employed the same m eans they did. H e therefore acted with his eycs 
open, and h e must abide the consequences. 
The only clue to tbe whole will be the proposals which he shall offer to 
you, in case you choose to contract for some engines in Silesia. So far from 
being the mediator, 1 have told the Baron that you bad it in your power 
to prevent.him seeing either manufacture or mine in England, and he feels 
himself so mud.i at your mercy that 1 am sure he will neither attempt to 
go to Cornwall or Derbyshire unless you accept his explanation and credit 
it so far as to put the most favourable constructions on a very incredible 
proceeding, and if its extreme folly, equal at least to its impropriety, does 
not incline you of your own accord to give him an example of handsome 
and generous conduct. 1 have ever been cautious, but 1 shall become more 
so not to risque your confidence and friendship . 

1 Ein Get reidemühlenwerk mit Dampfbetrieb, das erst 1786 angelaufen war und die 
modernsten Maschinen seiner Zeit besaß, „ein technischer, aber kein finanzieller Erfolg" 
(Ford, S. 190, Anm. 38) . 
r Terminus technicus für Industriespione (Ford, cbd., Anm. 39). 

220. Sir Joseph Banksan Matthew Boulton 1 

An•y Office Birmingham. Eigeoh. - Er1tdruck Ford, S. 189. 

[London,] F ebruar 1787 

Äußerstes Mißtrauen gegen alle d er Industriespionage nidit völlig unfähigen 
Aruländer als oberster Grundsatz :ur Wahrung der englüdien Überlegenheit im 
Masd1inenbau. Der Fall Stein als wamendes Beispiel. 

One conduct only 1 shall ever think it my duty to hold in cases similar 
to that of the Baron, which is never to countenance a foreigner whom 1 do 
not think incapable of attempting to steal inventions from whid1 as frorn 
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yours this nation derives its commercial importance and, if they are de­
tected, as the Baron has been, to withdraw all assistance of every species 
and, as much as politeness will allow, every species of communication from 
them. 
Nadischrift. I have not seen or heard of the Baron since he receiv' d my 
answer. 

1 Ein weiterer Brief von Sir Joseph Banks an Boulton vom 14. Februar 1787 (Ford 
a. a. 0. S. 181) ist als für unsere Zwecke belanglos weggefall en. 

221. E. R. Raspe1 an Matthew Boulton London, 26. [Februar] 1787! 
AH ay Office Birmiughnm. Eigcnh . - Erstdru ck Ford, S . 16711'. Der lctz.tc nicht hierher gehörige Teil des Briefei is t 
wcggdaSBcn. 

Warnung vor Stein und sein em Begleiter Friedridi als preußisdien lttdustrie· 
spionen. Friedridis tedinisdie Fähigkeiten und bergbaulidie Karriere. Raspes Plan, 
ihn Stein abspenstig ::u madien und diesem dadurdi mit gleid1er Münze heim· 
zuzahlen. 

Guard against a Baron Stein, who is soon coming to Cornwall with the 
patriotic intcntion to kidnap away what useful knowledge an<l men he 
may find in his way. His saying that he means to agree with you about 
your fire engine has no weight with me, nor will it 1 suppose have any 
with you. 1 have pressed him hard upon the subject but never saw anything 
like full powers. Therefore it is morc probable that he means ouly to learn 
(per-et n efas) how to correct that fire engine upon your construction, 
which a rascal of the name of Bückling3 stole away from this kingdom 
some time ago, and which by his direction has been built at the expense of 
the Prussian government at Rotenbury', not far from Hull6 in Saxony. 
lt has cost them already, not to mention lose of time, a sum of 25/m Dollars 
or about 4000 L St. in experiments and yet it worked but poorly and stops 
r egularly once in 24 hours. 
H e comes with an excellent engineer and modeller, a Mr. Friedrich or Fried­
rick6, of whose great abilities he has shown me astonishing proofs. Amongst 
several others 1 was sorry to see two excellent drawings of his of your 
rotative motion and of the regulator of the piston. By the Baron's account 
they were taken from sight at Calvert's or Thrale's7

• This young man is a 
native of Clausthal in the Electorate of Hanover, the son of a very worthy 
comptrolling captain with whom 1 have been very often under ground. He 
seems to have been kidnapt into the Prussian service, where even the best 
prospect they can make him will not be above i 150 a year. 
His great abilities and practical knowledge would make him a very useful 
acquisition, if the Baron could be punished his own way and this young 
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man be prevailed upon to stay with us, together with all bis drawings. 1 
fancy I could manage that business, and should b e more happy in doing it, 
as 1 am fully p ersuaded from what 1 have seen and heard of him that he 
would weil pay for the trouble and expense, was it only by the models of 
the various stamps in the Harts Forrest, Saxony, and Hungary whidi we 
are not sufficiently acquainted with and whid1 h e has promised to execute 
f or me, if further required. 
He has been brought up to the practical parts of mining from his infancy; 
and has gone thro' all itit different brandies from the stamps up to the 
function of a earpenter, engine man, captain, and surveyor, in short h e is 
what few men in this Kingdom are - and what many ought to be. 
S a pi e n t i s a t. 
In every other respect Baron Stein is a well bred, sensible and ex­
cellent young nobleman. If be thinks it a liberal exertion of patriotism to 
enridi bis country with useful knowledge in a sly back stair way, h e cannot 
possibly have any objection to ours, if possibly we can turn the tables upon 
him and send him home civilly and wiser through punished rashness. 1 shall 
not leave town until I have finish ed my edition of Born's Process of Amal­
gamationS [ ... ]. 

1 Erich Rudolf Rß8pe (1737- 1794), der Vater des „Münchhausen", der in seiner Zeit 
vor allem als Mineraloge und Geologe bekannt war. RDBpe hatte in Göttingen Natur­
wissenschaften und Philologie studiert und kam 1767 als Kurator der land grä flichen Anti· 
quitäten· und Münz-Sammlung nach Kassel. Er wurde Mitglied de r Royal Society und 
der Göttinger Akademie der Wissenschaften, aber aus ihren Listen wieder gestrichen, 
nachdem er 1775 des Diebstahls an den ihm anvertrauten Sammlungen überführt und 
flüchtig geworden war. Seitdem lebte er als SchriftsteJler, Übersetzer und Sachverständige r 
für Bergwerkssachen in England. 
! Nicht 26. Januar, wie Ford annimmt. Unsere Datierung ergibt sid1 aus dem englisdien 
Entwurf des Boultou-Briefs an Stein vom 3. März 1787 (S. 264, Anm. 2) , sowie aus An­
gaben in seinem Brief vom 3. u. 4. März 1787 (Nr. 228) . Ein Brief von London nad1 Bir­
mingham wird damals höchstens ein paar Tage, keinesfalls aber ein paar Wochen unter­
wegs gewesen sein. - Danach hätt e also nicht Raspes Denunziation, sondern Steins eigenes 
unvorsichtiges Auftreten den erst en Verdacht gegen ihn rege gemacht, insbesondere wohl 
das Gerede Curtwrights. 
3 Der spätere Oberbergrat Bück 1 in g , Erbauer d er Dampfmaschine in Tarnowitz 
(s. oben S. 148, Anm. 3). Er war 1793 in d er Bergverwaltung in Franken unter Alexan­
der v. Humboldt (s. Bruhns, Humboldt l. S.137 ff) und 1806 Oberbergrat be im Bergamt in 
Rothenburg a. S. In England war er wahrscheinlich dreimal, 1779 und 1786 sicher, wahr­
sd1einlid1 auch 1788, ein Beweis dafür, daß er seinem Staat als einer der besten Sach­
verständigen des Maschinenbaues und der Bergtedinik galt. - Die Erinnerung an Bück­
ling, der ihn sogleich bei seinem ersten Aufenthalt in England aufgesucht hatte, war für 
Boulton ein wunder Punkt, weil er sidi schmählich von ihm hintergangen glaubte (s. oben 
S. 249 f}. Die Erwähnung seines Namens im Zusammenhang mit Stein - „a clever stroke", 
wie Ford mit Redit konsta tiert - riß kaum vernarbte Wunden auf und rief das alte 
Mißtrauen im voJlen Umfange wadi. Vgl. über Bücklings e rsten England-Aufenthalt Ford, 
S. 167, Anm. 11 (nadi Smiles, Engineers IV. S. 250) , für all es ande re s. Ze itsch rift 
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für das Berg-, Hütten- und Salinenwesen im preuß. Staat 1. S. 208 und Wutke, Sdiles. 
Berg- und Hüttenleben, SS. 261, 453, 539, 577. 
' Gemeint ist Rothenburg an d er Saale. 
5 Halle a. S. 
0 Der Obersteiger Friedrich, d en Stein aud1 sonst als geschickten Bergmann erwähnt. 

Damals sehr bekannte Londoner Brauerei. 
8 Borns oben S. 238 erwähntes Budi. Es erschien in Raspes Übersetzung unter dem Titel: 
"New Process of Amalgamation . . . ",London 1791. 

222. Richard Phillips1 an Matthew Boulton London, 1. März 1787 
A11ay Office Birmingham. Eigeoh. - Erudrudc. Ford, S. 192 f. - Die beiden )ch:tco, nicht hierher gehörigen 
Ab1c:bnitte 1ind weggefallen. 

Neue Verdachtsmomente gegen Stein. Sein Fall als warnendes Beispiel. 

1 have been here since Sunday se[ ve]nnight and yesterday for the first time 
found out the author of the inclosed 2 which 1 have perused. The intelligence 
is worth attending to and his acc[oun]t of Stein's companion makes the 
Baron a more formidable spy than otherwise he might have proved. As 
Raspe has informed Sir Francis [Bassett] of it , probahly some steps may be 
taken to prevent mischief [ .. . ] , because such a repetition of such visitors as 
the present ought to open the eyes of some whidi hitherto appear to have 
been glued together. 
However, one good turn deserves another end 1 s[houl]d rejoice that Stein 
was left in the lurch. 
1 was today at tbe Albion Mill, noble upon my word, to look at, and farther 
1 cannot say [ ... ]. 

1 Der Quaker Sir Rieb. Phi 11 i p s, Bergwerksbesitzer und Vorstand einer Bergwcrks­
Geeellechaft in Cornwall, war ein enger Gesdtäftsfreund von Boulton & W alt (Ford, 
S. 192, Anm. 40, nadt Smiles, Enginecrs IV. SS. 259 u . 352). 
2 Raspe? Der erwähnte Brief liegt nidtt vor. 

223. Stein an Matthew Boulton London, 1. März 1787 
A111y Office Birmingham. Eigeoh. - Erotdrud< Ford, S. 1931. 

Förmlidies Arierbieten zum Kauf von Dampfmasdiineri für de1i Kö1iig von 
Preußen zum Gebrauch in den Salinen von Sdiönebeck und Unna und im Berg· 
bau von Tarnowitz. - Angesid1ts des gegen ilm in Cornwall verbreiteten Miß­
trauens trägt sidi Stein mit dem Gedanlcen, aa.f die Reise dorthiri zu verzichten. 

J 'ai eu l'honneur de vous informer , Monsieur, que je desire de traiter avec 
vous sur l'application des machines a feu dans les Etats du Roi de Prusse, 
SOUS des conditions pareilles a celles qu' on vous a fait enFrance.Elles pourront 
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etre employees immediatement a cette heure aux objects suivants, a c lever 
l'eau salee de la saline de Schoenebeck , pres de Magdebourg, a une hautcnr 
de 296 pieds, a quoi on employe dans une jonrnee 136 ch eveaux, a la saline 
d 'Unna, sur laquelle les donnes me manquent, a dessecher la mine de Tar­
nowitz, ou il faudra elever 80 pieds cube d'eau a unehauteur de 140pieds. 
Je desirer ais, Monsieur, de savoir a quclles conditions VOUS executerez vos 
machines, de convenir avec vous sur elles et d 'etre instruit des donnees 
qu' il vous faudrait pour votre information. 
Je me suis p ropose de faire le voyage de Cornwall pour m'instruire de 
l'h istoire naturelle de ce pays, mais j'ai appris, Monsieur, que tels sont les 
soup~ons qu'on a sus inspirer aux proprietaires des mines contre moi, que 
je ne puis meme esperer de voir les mines qu'on montre d'ailleur s a tout 
etranger. Si le fai t vous est connu, je vous prie au moins, Monsieur, d'avoir 
l'humanite de m'en instruire et de p r evenir que je ne fasse ce voyage a 
pure p erte, comme dans ce cas, j'y renoncerais. 
Nr. 28. Duke Street. St. James. 

224. Matthew Boulton an Thomas Williams1 [Birmingham,] März 1787 
Au ay Offi ce Birmingham. Konzep t. Eigenh. - Eru drudc. Ford, S . 198 ff. - Hie r am Sd1luß e lwu gekür:tt. 

Die Glaubwürdigkeit der Angaben Cartwrigh ts über seine Unterredung mit Stein 
und dessen V ermdie, ihn auszuholen. Steins anderweitiger Versuch, sidi heimlich 
Masdiinenhe11nt11isse zu versdiaff e11. Boulto11s W eigerung, arigesidits eines soldien 
Verhal tens mit ihm überhaupt V erbindu1ig au/z1mehme1i. Tro tz teilweiser Beridi· 
tigung seines Urteils durdi Greville und andere bleibt er eMsdilosse11, Stein den 
Zugang zu den Bergwerlcen in Comwall unmöglidi :u madien. Seine diesbe:üglidie 
Korrespondenz mit ihm. 

In reply to your favour of the 12 inst. be assured tha t the facts are as I 
r epresented them to you and, if you and my Lord Uxbridge2 wish to go 
into the minutia please apply to Sr. J oseph Banks, who has a long paper 
of mine in answer to one h e sent mc of the Baron's statement, and Sr. 
Joseph will show it you. 
lt is not likely tha t my man Cartwright possesses any malice or r evenge 
against the Baron, as h e never saw him 'till the Baron came with his 
draughtsman and mining engineer to Mr. B erkley's bre wery, wher e he 
began to sk etch and desired the man then working the engine to stop it 
and empty the condenser cistern, but the man replied h e could not set it 
to work again, unless Cartwright was there. They begged to see Cartwright 
and went with the man to an ale house where Cartwrigbt lodged, from 
whence they took him to the Baron's lodging and offered to t ake him with 
them to see the iron works and engine in Shropshire and the mines and 
engines in Cornwall and also to take him abroad with them. lt appears 
that Cartwright apparen tl y acquiesced in their proposition, in order to 
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come at a knowledge of the ir vi ews. They flattcr e<l Cartwright very much 
and gave him 2 Guineas. They showed him some drawings they had made 
of Chelsea and Richmond engines and asked him to correct them, which he 
readily undertook to do, I suppose by way of getting possession of them, 
for he cannot draw. This is a history of but 3 hours transactions, before 
which Cartwright n ever saw the Baron and since which he has nevcr seen 
him, as he left London the n ext day ancl went into the country to e rect an 
engine. Cartwright called upon m e ancl Mr. Watt (being both of us then 
in town) and told us of these transactions and of course we were displeased 
at both parties. Cartwright is a low workman and a man of such sort that 
we will not guarantee the propriety of his conduct. The Sunday following 
the Baron found another greater blackguard than Cartwright and went 
toge ther to see Mr. Barclay's engine, when it was not working, but th ey 
were refused, and yet the Baron knew at that time from Cartwright that 
1 and Watt were in town. 
In respect to my invitation of the Baron and to my entering into a treaty 
with him, 1 say that 1 received 2 notes from the Baron proposing a treaty, 
but I answer ed n either of them, as I never will correspond with a man 
who passes under differ ent names, having once been told that he passed 
under the name of Count Vidi; at length 1 learnt from Mr. Greville an<l 
other s that the Baron was a gentleman and a man of family and fortun e. 
Afte r which 1 r eceivecl another le tter from the Baron acquainting m e that 
he proposed to make some excursions into the country and wish ed to 
enter into a treaty with me for two engines. 
I wrote him an answer and told him 1 should be glad to sec him and to 
promote the pleasure of bis tour as a naturalist, philosopher, and a gentle­
man, but as an engineer h e must pardon me, if 1 laid obstacles in his way 
(or to that effec t). 1 m entioned the conduct of hi.s countryman Biickling 
and let him sec that 1 was upon my guard. As to treating upon terms for 
engines, 1 told him that b efore we could enter into any, it was necessary 
the King of Prussia should give us an exclusive privilege. 
You will easily perceive my motive for this proposition. Mr. Watt is now 
in town and 1 am a stranger to anything that may h ave passed be tween 
him and the Baron [ . .. ]. 

1 Parlnmentsmitglied für Angl esey und Gesd1 äft sführe r de r Parys Kupfermine. 
2 H enry Earl of U x b r i d g c (gest. 1812), Ei gentümer der vorcrwühnten Kupfermine. 
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225. Memorandum Watts [Birmingham, Anfang März 1787 ?] 
A tuy Offi ce Bi rmingham . Eigc uli. mit zahlreidtc n Abkürzuu gc n. S ie 1iud ohne Kenn ze idanun g aurgelüs t. 

Bedi11gu11 ger1 /iir die Lief erung vo11 Da111fifmusclii11e11 nach Preußen. 

Proposals by B & W 
l. W e reques t tha t an exclusive privilcge may be granted us ... 1 for the sole 

e rection of our engincs in his Prussian Majes ty's dominions for the term 
of 15 years. 

2. In consideration thereof we agree to furnish plans and direc tions and to 
provide such materials as may be necessary tobe sent from this counlry 
for th e er ec tion of as many engines as may be wanted in bis Prussian 
Majes ty's dominions on the same t erms on whid1 we do this like business 
her e. Which are, we furnish plans etc. and give orders for the materials 
and see that they ar e properly executed without any drnrge for the 
same. - Our profits arise from certain premiums that are paid to us for 
our troubles and the use of our invention, whid:i are in cases of engines 
that work mills f. 5 st erling annually for each horse power the engine is 
equal to. - In engincs whidl raise water we have 1/3 of the savings of fuel 
by our engines when compared with the common ones, whidl we fix 
according to the quality and price of the coals and the effects produced 
more by our engines than the common ones in the public trials which 
have been made between some of our customers and us. 

1 Hier folgen e inige nicht entziffert e Abkürzungen. 

226. Matthew Boulton an Ste in [Birmingham, Anfang März 1787 ?] 
A nny Office Dirmingh.1m. Konzept. E igenh. 

Bereitwilligkeit : ur Lieferung Wattsdier Damp/masdti1Len 11ad1 Preußen. Beclin· 
g11nge1L. 

In answer to the queries you were so obliging as to put to us r especting the 
erection of our steam engines in the dominions of his Majesty the King of 
Prussia, we rnust beg leave to observe tha t, h aving in this country a great 
deal of important business and being favoured with an exclusive privilege 
for the sole erection of our new invented steam engines, we cannot, con­
sistently with our interest , propose to undertake the erection of our engines 
in any fore ign conntry without an exclusive privilege is granted to us ther e 
for the sole erection of such engines, as every engine er ected at so great a 
distance would require more of our time and attention and would prevent 
the extension of our concerns at h ome. lf, the refore, his Prussian Majes ty 
should think [us) worthy of encouragement, we hope he will be pleased to 
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honour us with an exclusive privilege for the sole usc of engines of our 
invention for the space of 15 years unless his Majesty should prefer some 
other method of rewarding our services. - In case bis Majesty should be 
pleasecl to grant such privilege, we would furnish all drawings, <lirections, 
and any such of the materials as may hewanted from this countrywithevery 
other requisite for the erection of as many engines as may be wanted from 
time to time in the Prussian dorninions on the same terrns as we are paid in 
such cases in this country, which are, we furnish plans and directione, we 
take care that all the parts of the engine are properly executed and that it 
performs as weil as our other engines commonly do, for all which we make 
no charge, neither do we take any profits upon any of the materials we 
furnish. Our sole advantage arises from our being paid annually a sum = to 
one third part of the fuel saved by the use of our engines for and during the 
term of our patent or such part of it as the engine shall be ... 1 - Many public 
trials have been made in this country to determine the differ ence of the 
consumption of fuel used in the old and in the new engine in raising = 
quantities of water to = heighte and the constant r esul t of all sudi trials has 
been that the old engine has been found to burn [?] upon the aver[age3 times]2 

the quantity of coals that was consumed by the n ew engine. But as such 
experiments have been found to be troublesome and very expensive, we 
have for the sake of saving sudi trouble and expense agreed with most of 
our customers to estimate that our engine [works?] three times be tter than 
the old engine, i . e. when the old engine bums 3 the new will only 1.3 

1 Unlesbares Wort. 
2 Original besd:iädigt, durd:i Konjektur ergänzt. 
3 Bricht hier ab. Unvollendeter, nid1t abgegangener Entwurf, an dessen Stelle danu der 
Brief vom 3. März getreten is t? 

227. Matthew Boulton an Stein Birmingham, 3. März 1787 
Anar Orncc Birminght1m. Konz ept. Eigcuh. Engl. u. frz. - Eratdruck Ford, S. 194 ff. Die z1hlreid1 en ortbo­
grapbhdu:n Fehler du Oris inah eiod 1tilhd1wcigend berichtigt. 

Bedingungeri für den V erlcauf vo11 Dampfrnasd1inen nad1 Preußen. V erweist ihn 
zur Fortführung der V erha11dlungen an Watt. Erklärung der bisherigen Mißver­
ständnisse aus detn früheren Verhall en deutsdier Tedmilcer in England. Im Hin­
blick auf Steins Plari einer Reise riad1 Cornwall erklärt Boulton, daß er ihn iri jeder 
andern Eigensdiaf t ("comme naturaliste, mincralogiste ou comme gentilhomme"), 
denn als Teehnilcer gern reisen sehe, daß er ihm aber als " medianicien et inge· 
nieur" Sehwierigkeiteri ,;,.adien werde. Begrü11dung dieses V erhaltens aus den 
schlechten Erfahrungen mit Büdcli11g. Zum Sdduß rvird Stein 11od1 einmal ausdrü.d•· 
lid1 vor dem Besudi der Bergiverlce gewarnt. 

J'ai r e<;;u la lettre clont vous m 'avez honore en date du !er du courant, dans 
laquelle vous exprimez un desir d'eriger de nos madünes a feu sur vos 
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salines, sous d es conditions pareilles a celles clont lesquelles nous en avons 
erigees en France. Des la, il est necessair e de vous informer que le premier 
article de nos conditions etait qu' il fallait nous octroyer un privilege ex­
clusif pour }'erection de machines a feu sur DOS principes dans Ce royaume, 
ce qui eut lieu en consequence et nous a ete confirme depuis peu par le 
ministere de France. 
J e ne sais pas si Sa Majeste Prussienne adopte cette maniere d'encourager 
d es inventions nouvelles et utiles; mais comme mon associe, Mr. Watt, est 
parti pour Londres hier [ .. . ] , vous m e pe rmettrez, Monsieur, de vous r en­
voye r a lui en egard a une conference particulier e sur ce sujet, e t je me 
conformerai avec plaisir a tout ce clont vous et lui conviendrez ensemble. 
J e souhaite d'eviter la r ep etition de certaines circonstances recentes qui 
n'ont pas pu vous etre plus desagreables qu'elles me l'ont ete a moi-meme, 
mais je n e saurais m'empecher de dire, que, si vous etiez informe de la 
fa c;on p eu gentille clont quelques-uns de vos compatriotes se sont conduits 
enver s nous, conduite qui en m eme temps est contraire aux lois en ce pays, 
je suis sur que vous les bliime riez plutöt que moi. 
J'observe que vous vous proposez de faire sous peu un voyage dans la 
Cornouailles; si comme naturaliste, mineralogiste, ou comme gentilhomme, 
je puis seconder vos vues, j'en serai drnrme. Mais en qualite de m echanicien 
e t ingenieur, vous pardonnerez si je vous y fais d es obstacles. Un ingcnieur 
de Prusse se r endit l 'annee passee dans la Cornouailles1 et y fit non seule­
m ent des dessins de machines a feu, mais engagea m eme un homme a quit­
t er son pays et a se rendre avec lui a Mansfeld dans les domaines du Roi 
de Prusse e t t enta d'en emporter d'autres, ce qui l'expose a e tre empri­
sonne p endant 6 mois et, outre ce}a, a une amende de f. 500 Sterling. Je 
conseillerais par consequent cette personne de n e jamais hazarder un se­
cond voyage dans la Cornouailles. 
J e n 'ai point de doute que les per sonnes de condition, ou gentilhommes de 
la Cornouailles n e vous rei,;oivent e t ne vous traitent comme tel, mais sur 
certains points, ils seront circonspectes. 
Comme je suis homme d'affa ires et aime la verite et la frandlise, je vous 
prie de m'envisager comme tel et de pardonner la liberte avcc laquelle je 
m'exprime. 
Nadisdiri/ t. La lettre ci-dessus ecrite, j'ai rei,;u certaines informations qui 
m 'engagent a vous conseiller de ne pas hazarder un voyage parmi les mines.2 

1 Eversmnnn. 
2 Vermerk auf <ler Rückseite des englischen Konzepts: „Drauglit of my Letter to Barori 
S t ein, ivrote before I receivecl Mr. Raspes Letter." Damit k ann nur <ler Brief R aspes 
Nr. 221 gemeint sein, zumal dort auch von nicht s anderem, als <le r geplanteu Reise Steins 
nach Cornwall die Rede ist. 
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228. Matthew Boulton an James Watt 
Soho/Birruingham, 3. und 4. März 1787 

A1uy OlTice Birmingham. Eigenh. - Eratdruck Ford, S. 196 1. - Letzter Ab u t• wcggelaucu. 

Seine K orrespondenz mit Stein. Aus Konkurrenzgründen soll nun dod• mit ihm 
über den V erkauf englisdier Damp/masdiinen an Preußen verhandelt werden, 
und Boulton rät Watt, Stein deshalb zu empfangen („there are too many engines 
erected und too many drawings distributed . . . ").Gleichzeitig wll Stein auf Grund 
neuer Denunziationen Raspes und anderer entweder überhaupt von der geplanten 
Reise nadi Cornwall abgehalten oder dort an der Besid1tigung von Dampfma· 
sdiinen gehindert werden. 

1 yesterday rec[eive]d the inclosed from Baron Stein and have wrote [!] the 
inclosed answer1, w[hic]h, if you approve, send it to him clirectly. When I 
consider how many of our friends and pupi ls will undertake to make and 
furnish the Baron with·en gin es, I think it w[oul]d be impolitic to give him 
a flat denial and therefore think it would b e proper for you to have a 
conversation with him. 
The 41h. - So far I wrote yesterday but was prevented from writing more; 
1 took the opportunity of sending the Baron's le tter and my answer in 
Mr. Matthew's box last night. At the same moment I received one letter 
from Mr. Ridiard Phillips ancl another from Mr. Raspe by which you will 
see that it is desirable to prevent Baron Stein from going to Cornwall, and 
if he does go, every Cornish man should exert himself to prevent him 
seeing any of our engines and Lawson2 or someone tha t we can depend on 
should accompany him every hour during his residence. Mr. Phillips, Sr. 
F. Bassett and Mr. Raspe should all write to Cornwall h is history and 
intentions. But I think it would be well, if you were to sec him and talk 
with him, as it would be infinitely better than writing to him. Perhaps by 
talking to him you may turn an evil into a good. If his King would give 
us a handsome sum in lie u or a patent, you may give them a rec[eip]t for 
making fire engines for ' tis impossible that we can keep the rec[ eip ]t to 
ourselves. There are too many engines erected and too many drawings dis­
tributed, but we may k eep our experience and practical knowledge in a 
great degree to ourselves [ ... ]. 

1 Vom 3. März 1787. 
2 James La w so n (gest. 1818), sei t 1779 bei Boulton & Watt. Nüheres über ihn bei 
Ford, S. 196, Anm. 46. 

229. James Watt an Matthew Boulton Birmingham, 9. März 1787 
Auay Office Birmingham. Eigcnh. - Erstdruck F ord, S. 200 f. - Hier e lwu gckilnt. 

Berid1t über seine Verhandlungen mit Stein. St ein durdi Watt em eut davor ge­
warnt, sid1 englisch e K onstruktionspläne zu beschaffen. 

265 



Quelle: Freiherr vom Stein (Neubearb.), Bd. 1, Stuttgart 1957 / Internet-Portal "Westfälische Geschichte" 
URL: http://www.westfaelische-geschichte.lwl.org 

DIE ENG LT SC HE REIS E 1 7 8 7 

I r cc[eive]d your p acket concerning Baron Stein and went immediately 
to Mr. Grevi lle, who took upon him to m ention to the Baron m y being in 
town au<l to desi re him to declare explicitly, whether h e h ad any authority 
to treat with us. H e assured him he h ad from Baron H cinitz, the Chief 
D irec tor to the mincs, t o whom he would transmit any proposals we pleased 
to make and doubted not of our oLtaining an exclusive privilege 011 proper 
tcrms. H e r eferred Mr. G[rev]ille to the P russian Minist er1 for confir­
mation of his rank in th e mines and to Count Bruhl2 and some other gentle­
man for his family and connections. In consequence Mr. G[r eville] appoin­
ted a m eeting Letween the B[aron] and me this morning at Mr. G[reville's] 
lodgings. - 1 did not enlarge mud1 on grievances, but Mr. G[reville] spoke 
gcner al sentiments on the suLject decidedly. 1 told him the t erms on which 
we c rected engines h ere and insisted on the pat[en]t as a sine qua non. 
H e proposes setting out for Birmingham 011 Thursday n ext and to have 
a m eeting with us ther e to r ece ive our proposals and from that he means 
to go northwards, deferring his journey to Cornwall till a fter the m ecting. 
I find I shall have clifficulty to reconcile Sir Joseph to any compromise 
with the Baron on our part, shall a ttempt it, h owever, on Saturday night, 
meanwbile Mr. G[reville] h as promised to make the neccessary enquiries 
after him . - I have told the B[aro]n that we must consider his or his 
draughtuian's go ing into or making any drawings of our engines as an end 
to any treaty with us [ ... ] . 
Andere gesd iä/tlidie und tedinisdie Vor/iille. B[aron] Stein wanted to see 
iron works. I t ook him [to] Wilkinson's wh o refused him, but gives per­
mission to see everything about the coaleries et c. [ ... ]. 

1 Preuß. Gesandter in Londou war damals Spiridion Graf v. Lu s i (1742-1815), ein ge­
bürtiger Grieche, den Friedrich d . Gr. au seinen Hof gezogen h atte. Er wurde, nadtdem er 
als Offizier im Feldzug von 1778/79 gedient h att e, 1780 Gesandte r in London, wo er sich 
in den Unterh andlungen über den Beitritt Hannove rs zum deutschen Fürstenbund be­
währte. 1788 zurückberufen, wurde er 1792 Generalmajor und 1798 Generalleutnant . 1792 
war er in diplomatischer Mission in Wien und Konstantinopel und wurde 1800 Gesandter 
in Petersburg. Mit seiner Abberufung von diesem Posten im Jahre 1802 endete seine 
merkwürdige Karriere. 
2 Vermutlich „Br ühl " - bei Ford: „Bou hl " . 

230 . Matthew Boulton an Thomas Wilson1 [Birmingham,] 17. März 1787 
Au oy Office Birmingham. Konzept. Eige nh . - Er1tclrudc Ford, S . 201. 

Warnung v or Stein als einem h öch st gefälirlid Len Spion, clem 11ichts gezeigt 
werden dürfe. 

1 believe Baron Stein is se t out to Cornwall, r emember what I told you 
befo re, he is the most dangerous of all the spiee tha t h ave come to Corn­
wall. H e has an expericnced miner and engineer with [him]. H e must not 
go into our engines, p articularly the modern ones2• 
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1 Be triehsführe r de r Ch acew ater-Be rgwe rke in Cornwall, außerdem Agent de r Firma 
Boultou and Watt (Ford, S. 201, Anm. 49). 
• Aus denselben Tage n wohl noch die be iden andern eindringlid1cn Warnungen an und 
durch Wilson : „The said Baron is a rascally diaracter and quite suitable of the dirty 
business he is com e upon [ ... J. I nwst therefore beg you to excrt your b est endeauourJ 
to preuent him from going irit o a11y 0 11e engin.e [ . . .}. He speaks bad Englislt . but 0 11c of 
Iris m en spealrs goocl." (Boultoo au Wilson?) . - " You canrwt b e t oo much on your guard, 
as lt e will bribe high, cwd use every m eans in his power." (Watt an Wilson) - Beides uad1 
Carswell a. a. 0 . S. 200 f. (fehlt bei Ford) , ebd. de r Steckbrief Watts, wahrscheinlich in 
seinem eben zitierten Sdueibeo an \Vilson vom 17. März: „He is in stature ruther below, 
or about ehe m iddle si::e , ltas black eyes, som ervh at pittecl with th c smullpox." 

231. Matthew Boulton an John Vivian 1 [Birmingham,] 17. März 1787 
Au ay Office Birmiu~h am . Eigenh. - Erudruck Forcl 1 S. 202. 

Steins beuorst ehc11de A1drun.ft i1t Cornwall. Aufforderung, ihm den Zugang zu 
allen modernen Masd1ine1ianlage11 und Stollen 1.111möglid1 zu. nwclien, Arbeiter u11d 
W erk führer sd1är/st e11s d ahin zu instruieren. 

1 expect Baron Stein and his assistanls are gone to Cornwall, if you wish 
to promote the working of the Prussian mines, 1 recommend that you 
show him the engines at North Downs, at Poldice and the United Mines, 
with all the modern improvements, but if you are of a contrary opinion, 
I wish y o u to attend him to the mines, for h e will go, and prevent him 
and his draughtsman from going in to any of the engines and threaten 
every engine man or captain that dare admit them by night. You must 
also charge Rivers2 ancl Blight to inform you all their rnotions3• 

1 John Viv i an aus Truro war nach Ford (S. 202, Anm . 50) eine der führend en P ersön­
lichkeiten im Kohlenbergbau Cornwalls. 
2 Gastwirt in Truro, wie wahrsd1einlich aud1 Blight in d ieser Gegend . Man sieht, mi t 
weldrno Me thoden Stein überwacht wurd e. 
3 Wie Vivian diese lnstruktiooeu auffal.lte und weit erga b, („perhaps overstrai11i11g Iris 
instructions" ) berichte t Carswell (a. a. 0. S. 205) nad1 d en Boulton-Mauuscripts: ,,Vivian 
had told his m er1 that a visitor who strayed from the approved route would b e better 
at the bottom of tlr e ncarest disused sliaf t uJith a brolcen n ed c t lwn .rnfe clt lwmc i11 Ger­
man.y." 

232. Matthew Boulton an Richard Phillips [Birmingham,] 25. März 1787 
A1111y Office Birmiughnm. Konzept. Eigcnl1 . - Erudrudc. Ford, S . 202. 

Steins Aufenthalt i11 Cornwall. 

1 presume Baron Stein has latcly been with you in Cornwall and hope he 
has been shown all proper and constant attention1 . 

1 Eine im L id1t d er vorhe rgehe nd en und fol genden Korrespondenz r cd1t doppeldeuti ge 
Beme rkun g, sie ist olTenlia r a11d1 rid1ti g ve rstand en word en . 
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233. Matthew Boulton an John Vivian1 Birmingham, 8. April 1787 
Auay Office Birmingh am. (Lcttcrbook.) Eigcnh. - Era tdruck Ford, S. 202. 

Enttäuschullg Steins über di e Ergebnisse sei11er R eise. 

Baron Stein and assistants are now h ere and seem much disappointed 2• 

1 Aus dem Briefbuch. 
2 Tagebucheintrogung Boultons vom 3. April 1787 : „Baron Stein and Count Slabren· 
dorfj ( !} di11ed at Soho." - Dunuch sd1e int ßoulton Stein doch noch empfan gen zu huben. 

234. Stein an Watt [London, 5. April 1787] 
A uay Office Birmingham. Eigeoh. 

T ed111isd1e uncl red1tlidie Vorfragen betr. di e Aufstellung Wattsdier Dampf· 
masd1inen im preußisdien B ergbau. 

B[aron] Stein presents compliments to Mr. Watt and, in consequencc of 
their conversation about the erection of new steam engines in the Prussian 
dominions, entreats him to pay particular attention in the promised memo­
randum to' the following questions: 
1. The quantity of coals consumed by a uew steam engine, in proportion 

to the diameter of the piston. A considerable difference existing in the 
qualities of coals, B. Stein proposes the New Castle coals as a standard 
whose quality and weight is best kuown to him. 

2. The r e lative power of a patent engine compared 
a) with that of a commou steam engine constructed upou the old prin­

ciples. An extract of those observations and trials made by the 
patentees or their delegates will best explain this point. 

b) with that of horses, or the diameter of piston and quantity of coals 
required to produce the same effect as a stated number of horses. 

3. The absolute power of patent steam engines according to their theory 
and experience. A table of the effect produced by engines of very 
different diamct er for a fixed time, like that of the Cornwall engines 
will best prove what may be reasonably expected. 

4. The expenses in constructing patent engines of different diameters, 
exclusive of pumps and buildings, compared with the expenses of com­
mon engines. 

5. The annual expenses in repairing or keeping in order a patent engine. 
6. The condition the patentees would stipulate with the King of Prussia, 

if they construct patent engines in His M. dominions 
a) in lieu of old engines or horses, 
b) where no engine at all was used before. 
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7. lt is understood that the patcntees beside the construction of the 
engines, would take care to have them erected upon the spot, so as to 
produce the effect, and further that the necessary managers of the 
engine would be sufficiently instructed for the purpose of managing 
them, keeping them in order and doing such repairing as usually might 
be required. 

Tomorrow being Good Fryday, Mr. Stein must put up his intention to visit 
an iron fondery for Saturday, when he will be very glad to receive the 
favour of an introduction. 
Thuesday morning at 12 o'clock. 

235. Stein an Boulton Bristol, 7. Juni 1787 
Auay Office Birmingham . Eigenb . 

Aussichten auf einen günstigen Absdiluß der V erhandlungen mit Boulton. Bevor­
stehende Reise Steins nadi Cornwall. 

J'ai cru devoir avoir l'honneur de vous avertir que selon les lettres du 
Ministre d'Etat de H einitz1 a Berlin, il se trouve tres incline a passer un 
contract avec vous, qu'il vous fera tenir dans peu les donnees necessaires 
pour que vous puissiez former un plan pour la construction des machines a 
feu a Schönebeck, et qu'en meme temps, il vous communiquera les termes 
auxquels il pourra acceder a une conclusion finale. J'espere de trouver 
tous ces objets a Londres, Oll je me trouverai le 21 de juin, comptant aller 
d'ici en Cornwall, et j'ai l'honneur d'etre, en vous priant de faire agreer 
mes d evoirs a Mr. Watt, votre tres humble e t tres obeissant serviteur. 

1 Nidit ermittelt. 

236. James Watt an Matthew Boulton 
Auay Office Birmiogham. Eigeoh. - Eratdruck Ford, S. 203. 

Mißerfolg Steins in Cornwall. 

London, 21.Junil787 

[ . .. ] Baron Stein is in Cornwall double guarded. They woulq not even 
show him the dressing of tin stuff at Polgooth. 
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